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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

Address: 127 Ashwood Dr

City, State, Zip* gymmerville, SC 29486-2003
DL# 007314886 SID#

SENTENCE SHEET

)
)
COUNTY OF Dorchester )
)
STATE ) INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2021 -GS - 18 - -1041
Vs, )
)
Derrick Gerard Boyd )y AWE 2021A1810200060
AKA: }  Date of Offense: 5/15/2021
Race: BLACK Sex: M Age: 46 } S.C.Code§: 44-53-370(e)
DOB:  (06-18-1976 8SS#. 248-35-011 ) CDR Code #: 0278
)
)
)
)

“CDL Yes [[]1Na [] CMV Yes [] No [] Hazmat Yes [] No ]
In disposition of the abave indictment comes now the Defendant who was [ CONVICTED OF or [] PLEADS

TO: Trafficking in Cocaine, 10G or More, But Less than 28G - 3rd or sub. offense

In violation of § 44-53-370{e)  ofthe S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # _ 0147

[] NON-VIOLENT X VIOLENT [ SERIOUS [] MOST SERIOUS ] Mandatory GPS [] §17-25-45

(CSC wiminor 15t or CSC wi/minor 3¢)
] Lesser Included 0 Defendant Waives

The charge is: = As indicted, Offense, Presentment to Grand Jury. {def.'s initials)

The plea is: [] Without Negotiations or Recommendation, {1 Negotiated Sentence, [J Recommendation by the State.

ATTEST:

' 101325
Solicitor SC Bar # Defendant Attorney for Defendant SC Bar#
WHEREFORE, the Defendant is committed to the D’Sﬁepar’cment of Correction  [] County Detention Center,

for a determinate term 9125 PR

and/or to pay a fine of $ . provided that upon the service of days/months/years/Time Served and or payment

; @ [3 Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years

of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable™; the balance is suspended with probation for

monthsfyears and subject to Soutk Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.

The sentence shall run
If/cg/.)foRENT or ] CONSECUTIVE to sentence on: 6’ a J - 2@.2 3

The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied by SCDOC.
days/months
] To include time spent on monitored house arrest prior to trial and sentencing.
[0 The Defendant Shall be Released from County Detention Center.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922 and § 16-25-30 it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of § 16-25-20 or § 16-25-65
{Domestic Violence) to ship, transport, possess, or receive a firearm or ammunition.





STATE VS. Derrick Gerard Boyd INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2021 - GS - 18 - -1041

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:

[l PTUP after monthsiyears
And Other Terms Listed Below:
[0 Substance Abuse Counseling ] Completion of GED [0 Random Drug/Alcohol Testing
[0 Attend Voc. Rehat. Or Job Corp [0 No Contact with Victim  [.] Domestic Violence Intervention Program
1 Mental Health Counseling [0 Mayserve W/E
beginning:

[0 Sex Offender Registry pursuant to S.C. Code § 23-3-43¢ [ Public Service Employment days/hours
[3 Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-25-135.
[0 Other:
O RESTITUTION: [1 Deferred [] Def. Waives Hearing [] Ordered
Total § plus 20% fee: $
Payment Terms: [l Set by SCDPPPS
Recipient:
*Fine: $
Fine may be pd. in equal consecutive weekly/monthly pmts. of  § Beginning
§14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%) $
§14-1-211 (A){1){Conv, Surcharge:) $100  $/.0
§14-1-211 (A){2)(DU! Surcharge) $100 %
§56-5-2995 (DUl Assessment) $12 3
§56-1-286 {DUI Breath Test) $25 $
§14-1-212 {Law Enforce. Funding) $25 sab v -
§14-1-213 {Drug Court Surcharge) $150 $ [¢)1.6)
§34-11-70(b)and(c), and 34-11-90(c)and(d) (Admin Fraud Check Court Costs) $41 $
§50-21-114 (BUI Breath Test Fee} $50 $
§56-5-2942()) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea §
3% to County {if paid in installmerts) TBD $85.45
[] Appointed PD or appointed other counsel, Proviso requires $500 be paid to Clerk -

during probation and shall be collected before any other fees $500 $
[J §17-3-30(B) Unpaid Application Fee to be paid to the Public Defender Fund TBD [ f7 [ .

= 3

@i’ A Presiding Judge:
Clerk of Court/Deputy Clerk: d ar— Judge Code’
Court Reporter: Sentence Date: £ 2.4 2 N 3

SCCA/217 {07/2021}
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

COUNTY OF Dorchester

STATE INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2021 - GS - 18 - -1043

V3.

Derrick Gerard Boyd AWH: 2021A1810200062

AKA: Date of Offense: 5/15/2021
Race: BLACK Sex: M Age: 46 S.C. Code & 44-53-370(b)
DOB: _06-18-1976 S8# 248-35-0119 COR Code #: 0186

Address: 127 Ashwood Dr

City, State, Zip: gymmerville, SC 29486-2003
DL# 07314886 SID#

SENTENCE SHEET

e T et St et e ot ot e ! St S S’ s e

*CDL Yes [] No [ ] CMV Yes [] No [] Hazmat Yes [ ] No []
In disposition of the above indictment comes now the Defendant who was /@/CONVICTED GF or ?ﬁ)PLEADS

TO:  Manuf,, Poss. of Other sub. in Sch. I, Il, Il or Flunitrazepam or Analogue, with Intent to Distribute - 1st offense

In violation of § 44-53-370(b) of the 8.C. Code of Laws, bearing COR Code # (1186

x] NON-VIOLENT 0 VIOLENT ] SERIOUS [0 MOSTSERIOUS [ Mandatory GPS ] §17-25-45

{CSC w/minor 1% or CSC w/minor 3r)
LLesser included 0 Defendant Waives

The charge is: 4 As indicted, [ Offense, Presentment to Grand Jury. (def.’s initials)

The plea is: [] Without Negotiations or Recommendation, [] Negotiated Sentence, [ ] Recommendation by the State.

ATTESH

) 101325

Salicitor SCBar#  Defendant B/ Attorney for Defendant SC Bar#
WHEREFORE, the Defendant is committed to the State Department of Correction [ ] County Detention Center,

for a determinate term of 5days/monthTime Served [ 1 Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years

and/or to pay a fine of § ;. provided that upon the service of days/months/years/Time Served and or payment

of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

Thes ce shall run
OMCURRENT or [ CONSECUTIVE to sentence on: 3’ 21— aQ}B

The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to 8.C. Code § 24-13-40 1o be calculated and applied by SCDOC.
days/months :
[l To include time spent on monitored house arrest prior to trial and sentencing.
[1 The Defendant Shall be Released from County Detention Center.

Pursuant to 18 U.5.C. § 922 and § 16-25-30 it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of § 16-25-20 or § 16-25-65
(Domestic Violence) to ship, transport, possess, or receive a firearm or ammuanition.





STATE VS, Derrick Gerard Boyd INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2021 -GS -18--1043

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:

[0 PTUP after months/years
And Other Terms Listed Below:
[0 Substance Abuse Counseling [J] Completion of GED 1 Random Drug/Alcohol Testing
[0 Atftend Voc. Rehab. Or Job Corp ] Nc Contact with Victim [} Domestic Violence Intervention Program
[] Mental Health Counseling ™ EA:;::;:\\;; WIE
[0 Sex Offender Registry pursuant to S.C. Code § 23-3-430 [ Public Service Employment days/hours
[ cCentral Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-25-135.
[1 Other:

[0 RESTITUTION: []  Deferred [ Def Waives Hearing [] Ordered

Total § plus 20% fee: $
Payment Terms: [[] Setby SCDPPPS
Recipient:
*Fine: $
Fine may be pd. in equal consecutive weekly/monthiy pmts. of  $ Beginning
§14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%) $ .
§14-1-211 (A}(1){Conv. Surcharge) $100 $/00. 0
§14-1-211 (A)2)}{DUI Surcharge} $100 $
§56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment} $12 $
§56-1-286 (DU Breath Test) $25 $
§14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding} $25 % o 5‘ &)
§14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 $ ]Q-A ¥}
§34-11-70({b)and(c), and 34-11-90(c}and{d) {Admin Fraud Check Court Costs}) $41 3
§50-21-114 (BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 $
§56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea §
3% to County {if paid in installments) TBD $9.d4H
(] Appointed PD or appainted other counsel, Proviso requires $500 be paid to Clerk

during probation and shall be collected before any other fees $500 $
[0 § 17-3-30(B) Unpaid Application Fee to be paid to the Pubiic Defender Fund TBD $

$ -
) Presiding Jude"

Clerk of Court/Deputy Clerk: Judge Code:
Court Reporter: Sentence Date: g 3-—52 ]~ D 3
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021A180200060; 2021A1810200062

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,
V.
Derrick G. Boyd,
Appellant.
NOTICE OF APPEAL

Appellant appeals his sentence in the above referenced case. Defendant was sentenced on
March 21, 2023. Appellant also appeals the denial of his Motion to Reconsider Sentence. The
Motion for a New trial was timely filed on March 28, 2023 and denied in a written order that was
filed on April 17, 2023.

s/ Tristan Shaffer
Tristan M. Shaffer (SC Bar # 77565)
Adams & Bischoff, LLC
6326 Saint Andrews Road
Columbia, SC 29212
(803) 626-0188
tristan@adamsbischoff.com

Other Counsel of Record:

Mr. David Leon Osborne

First Circuit Solicitor’s Office

101 Ridge St., 2nd Floor

St. George, SC 29477
dosborne@dorchestercountysc.gov






STATE OF SOUTHCAROLINA ) INTHE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
R 7 R
COUNTY OF DORCHESTER ) WARRANT NO(s): 2021-GS-18-1041 and

: 2021-GS-18-1043

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

)

)

;

) ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT’S
vs. )  RENEWED MOTION FOR A DIRECTED

)  VERDICT, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, A

) MISTRIAL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE A
DERRICK BOYD ) NEW TRIAL
)
)
)

Defendant.

This matter came before this Court by way of Defendant’s Renewed Motion for a Directed
Verdict, or in the alternative, a Mistrial, or in the alternative a New Trial brought forth pursuant to
South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure 19 and 29. Derrick Boyd was convicted on Possession
with Intent to Distribute Marijuana and Trafficking Cocaine after a jury trial.,

After reviewing the materials submitted, I find that oral arguments will not assist in the
ruling of Defendant’s Renewed Motion for a Directed Verdict, or in the alternative, a Mistrial, or
in the alternative a New Trial and the Motion can be determined on briefs filed by the parties. The
Defendant’s Renewed Motion for a Directed Verdict, or in the alternative, a Mistrial, or in the
alternative a New Trial is denied.

Motion to Suppress Evidence and Motion to Suppress Statement
Prior to trial, a motion to suppress evidence and a motion to suppress Defendant’s

statements was made. This court denied both motions.
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“The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” State v.
Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. App. 2000). “Accordingly, evidentiary
rulings of the trial court will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the
commission of a legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant.” /d. “Prejudice occurs
when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's
verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011). “Where ‘guilt has been
conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be
reached,” an insubstantial error that does not affect the result of the trial is considered
harmless.” /d. at 447, 710 S.E.2d at 60 (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d
262, 267 (2006)); State v. Heyward, 432 S.C. 296, 314, 852 S.E.2d 452, 461 (Ct. App. 2020).

The court fully incorporates the bases articulated fully in the transcript at the trial regarding
the denial of both motions and sees no reason to change or otherwise alter that determination. The
motion for reconsideration regarding the motion to suppress evidence and motion to suppress the
Defendant’s statement is denied.

Motion for a Directed Verdict

At the close of the State's case, Boyd moved for a directed verdict. The trial court denied
Boyd’s motion, finding there was direct and substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably
tends to prove accused's guilt on each of his charges. At the close of Boyd’s case-in-chief, he
renewed his directed verdict motion, which the trial court denied. Following the denial of the
renewed motion for directed verdict Boyd’s case was submitted to the jury and he was found guilty

of Possession with Intent to Distribute Marijuana and Trafficking Cocaine.
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A motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV) is a renewal of a directed
verdict motion. Rules Crim.Proc., Rule 50(b); Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 640 S.E.2d 486 (Ct.
App. 2006). When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the
existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight. Sellers v. State, 362 8.C. 182, 607 S.E.2d 82
(2005); State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004); State v. Wilds, 355 S.C. 269, 584
S.E.2d 138 (Ct.App.2003).

If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending
to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to
the jury. Cherry, 361 S.C. at 593-94, 606 S.E.2d at 478; State v. Harris, 351 S§.C. 643,572 S.E.2d
267 (2002); State v. Follin, 352 S.C. 235, 573 S.E.2d 812 (Ct.App.2002); see also State v. Horton,
359 8.C. 555, 598 S.E.2d 279 (Ct.App.2004) (noting judge should deny motion for directed verdict
if there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove
accused's guilt, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced).

When a motion for a directed verdict is made in a criminal case in which the State relies
exclusively on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge is required to submit the case to the jury if
there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from
which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 562 S.E.2d 313
(2002); State v. Buckmon, 347 S.C. 316, 555 S.E.2d 402 (2001); Al-Amin, 353 §.C. at 411, 578
S.E.2d at 35; State v. Padgett, 354 S.C. 268, 580 S.E.2d 159 (Ct.App.2003); State v. Zeigler, 364
S.C. 94, 101-02, 610 S.E.2d 859, 863 (Ct. App. 2005); see also State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533
S.E.2d 572 (2000) (stating trial court has duty to submit case to jury where evidence is
circumstantial, if there is substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove guilt

of accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced).
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In the instant case, the record provides substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably
tending to prove Defendant’s guilt for each charge. Viewed in the light most favorable to the State,
there was substantial circumstantial evidence to submit the charge to the jury. The court sees no
reason to change or otherwise alter that determination and the motion for reconsideration for the
directed Verdicts are denied.

Motion for Mistrial and Motion for a New Trial

Defendant made a motion for a mistrial and a motion for a new trial following the polling
of the jury that resulted in one juror recanting the verdict. The court requested the jury return to
the jury room to continue deliberations. Defendant’s motion for a mistrial was denied. The court
sees no reason to change or otherwise alter either determination.

“The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court.”
State v. Carrigan, 284 S.C. 610, 328 S.E.2d 119 (Ct. App. 1985); State v. Ayers, 284 S.C. 266,
325 S.E.2d 579 (Ct. App. 1985); State v. McDaniel, 275 S.C. 222, 268 S.E.2d 585 (1980);
Washington v. Whitaker, 317 S.C. 108, 451 S.E.2d 894 (1994); State v. Vazquez, 364 S.C. 293,
613 S.E.2d 359 (2005); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct.App.2003); State v.
Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 575 S.E.2d 77 (Ct.App.2003); State v. Stanley, 365 S.C. 24, 33, 615
S.E.2d 455, 460 (Ct. App. 2005). A mistrial should only be granted upon exercise of the greatest
of caution for "plain and obvious reasons," State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 386 S.E.2d 255 (1989),
or “only if there is a manifest necessity or the ends of public justice are served,” State v. Brown,
389 S.C. 84, 94, 697 S.E.2d 622, 627-28 (Ct. App. 2010), or when absolutely necessary. State v.
Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 585-86, 698 S.E.2d 862, 865-66 (Ct. App. 2010); State v. Creech, 314 S.C.

76, 441 S.E.2d 635 (Ct. App. 1993).
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“Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a
mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of
the specific difficulty facing the trial judge.” State v. Bantan, 387 S.C. 412, 417, 692 S.E.2d 201,
203 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting State v. Rowlands, 343 S.C. 454, 457-58, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct.
App. 2000)); State v. Benton, 435 S.C. 250, 259, 865 S.E.2d 919, 923 (Ct. App. 2021), 1eh'g
denied (Nov. 18, 2021), cert. granted (Sept. 7, 2022).

Further, the determination of what curative measures are appropriate in a given case rests
in the sound discretion of the [¢circuit court]. [It] should exhaust other methods to cure the prejudice
before aborting a trial.” (emphasis added) {quoting State v. Stone, 290 S.C. 380, 382, 350 S.E.2d
517, 518 (1986))); State v. Smith, No. 2018-000952, 2022 WL 223326, at *1 (S.C. Ct. App. Jan.
26, 2022); State v. Kelly, 372 S.C. 167, 171, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App. 2007).

If the poll reveals the jury's announced verdict is not in fact unanimous, the verdict cannot
stand, and the trial court may, as circumstances warrant, direct further deliberation or declare a
mistrial. State v. Kelly, 372 S.C. 167, 170-71, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App. 2007). Just as trial
counsel has no duty to request a poll, the trial court has no duty to conduct one without a request.
Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 196, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324 (2002); State v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 309,
278 S.E.2d 335, 338 (1981); State v. Wright, 432 S.C. 365, 369, 852 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App.
2020), aff'd, No. 2021-000146, 2023 WL 2291747 (S.C. Mar. 1, 2023). “If it is made known to the
court when it is time to render the verdict that any juror does not assent to it, the verdict cannot be
received and the jury should retire to their room until they have agreed.” State v. Singlefon, 319
S.C. 312, 316, 460 S.E.2d 573, 576 (1995). A judge has a duty to urge the jury to reach a verdict,
but he may not coerce them. Id. at 316, 460 S.E.2d at 575; see also, State v. Kelly, 372 S.C. 167,

171, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App. 2007).
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Here, the jury initially deliberated for a short amount of time before returning with its
verdict. Upon Defendant’s request, the jurors were individually polled and one juror recanted on
one of the verdicts. Because jury deliberation had occurred for a limited period of time prior to the
initial verdict, the court returned the jury to continue deliberation. After further deliberations, the
court was notified the jury had reached its verdict, which was verified after a second request for
polling. The court was satisfied after the second polling, which was unanimous, that there was no
coercion. At no time did the jury indicate it was deadlocked. Following the jury’s deliberation
there was no indication whatsoever that the recanting juror was pressured into concurring with the
ultimate unanimous verdict. The court denied the motions and sees no reason to change or
otherwise alter that determination.

Conclusion

After review, I find no reason to alter the previous rulings. After considering Defendant’s

Renewed Motion for a Directed Verdict, or in the alternative, a Mistrial, or in the alternative a

New Trial, I find they should be denied for the reasons stated herein.

IT IS SO ORDERED!

Hon. Diane S. Goodstein
Presiding Judge, First Judicial Circuit

April / ] , 2023

St. George, South Carolina
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